THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

**RECEIVED**

**Apr 22 2024**

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

The Honorable James B. Jackson, Jr., Master-in-Equity

---

Case No. 2020-001254

---

Kacey Green and Charinrath Green,..... Respondents

v.

Mervin Lee Johnson,..... Petitioner

---

**PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

HOLCOMBE BOMAR, P.A.  
P.O. Box 1897  
Spartanburg, SC 29304  
(864) 594-5300

By: *s/ Todd Russell Flippin*

---

Todd Russell Flippin (S.C. Bar No. 101197)  
*Attorneys for Petitioner*

## INTRODUCTION

Petitioner Mervin Lee Johnson (“Johnson”) petitions the Court for a writ of certiorari to review the Court of Appeals’ opinion issued January 17, 2024, setting aside in favor of Respondents Kacey Green and Charinrath Green (“the Greens”) the Master-in-Equity’s Amended Damages Order. *Kacey Green, et al. v. Mervin Johnson*, Unpublished Op. No. 2024-UP-024 (S.C. Ct. App. filed January 17, 2024). For the benefit of the bench and bar this Court should correct the Court of Appeals’ failure to find that the Greens’ appeal was untimely. This appeal raises the recurring problem resulting when a party files a Rule 59(e) motion for reconsideration while simultaneously serving a notice of appeal. This Court has explicitly instructed that such an appeal be dismissed without prejudice to cure this jurisdictional defect. Despite this clear rule, and notwithstanding Johnson’s repeated efforts to call attention to the issue, the Court of Appeals ignored this rule and rescued the Greens’ defective appeal. For this and other reasons, this Court should grant a writ of certiorari.

In its unpublished order, the Court of Appeals set aside the Master-in-Equity’s Amended Damages Order and reinstated the Damages Order issued prior to Johnson’s appearance in this action. The Court of Appeals erred when it rejected Johnson’s arguments and failed to conclude: a) that the court lacked jurisdiction over the Greens’ notices of appeal; b) that evidence relied on by the Master to reduce the excessive default damages award was presented to the trial court prior to the hearing on Johnson’s Rule 59(e) motion; c) that the Master properly admitted evidence at that Rule 59(e) hearing; d) that the Master’s orders omitted any factual findings to support the excessive punitive damages award; and, e) that it was error for the Master to hold that the Greens’ attorney’s conduct in negotiating with Johnson’s insurer supported setting aside default. Johnson craves reference to his Final Appellate Brief, Final Return to Appellants-Respondents’ Amended

Initial Brief, and the Record on Appeal in support of this Petition. Moreover, Johnson invites this Court's attention to his Motion to Dismiss the Greens' appeal together with the Court of Appeals' erroneous order denying that motion.

## **ARGUMENTS**

### **I. THE COURT OF APPEALS NEVER OBTAINED JURISDICTION OVER THE GREENS' NOTICES OF APPEAL.**

The Court of Appeals erred in failing to dismiss the Greens' notices of appeal. The Greens' first notice of appeal was filed after they filed a Rule 59(e) motion, which undeniably stayed the appeal deadline. The court did not dismiss that notice of appeal and the Greens never withdrew their Rule 59(e) motion. After Master-in-Equity James B. Jackson, Jr. (the "Master") cured this deficiency and ruled on that motion, the Greens did not serve a notice of appeal within the 30-day time limit required by Rule 203(b), SCACR. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals never obtained jurisdiction over the Greens' appeal.

As argued in § II, A of Johnson's Return to Appellants' Final Brief, the Greens' notice of appeal was untimely because the Greens filed a Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter or Amend the Amended Order on Damages within ten days of the Master's Amended Damages Order. (R. pp. 162-167). This motion stayed the time to appeal until "receipt of written notice of entry of the order granting or denying such motion." Rule 59(f), SCRCP. Therefore, the Court of Appeals did not have jurisdiction to hear the Greens' appeal until after the trial court ruled on their Rule 59(e) motion. The relevant procedural timeline is as follows.

Amended Damages Order issued	August 14, 2020
The Greens' Rule 59(e) Motion filed	August 24, 2020
The Greens' Notice of Appeal served	September 14, 2020
Judge Jackson email denying jurisdiction over the Greens' Rule 59 Motion issued	September 18, 2020
Johnson's Notice of Cross-Appeal served	September 25, 2020
Johnson's Motion to Hold Appeals in Abeyance filed	December 9, 2020
Court of Appeals grants Johnson's Motion to Hold Appeals in Abeyance	February 4, 2021
Order (Form 4) Denying the Greens' Rule 59(e) Motion issued	March 8, 2021
Johnson's Notice of Appeal (2 <sup>nd</sup> ) served	April 7, 2021
The Greens' Motion for Extension of Time to File Amended Notice of Appeal filed	April 20, 2021
Johnson's Motion to Dismiss Appeal filed	May 7, 2021
Court of Appeals' Order Denying Johnson's Motion to Dismiss Appeal issued	June 28, 2021

This Court has unequivocally stated that an appeal noticed after a timely Rule 59(e) motion should be dismissed without prejudice to allow the trial court to consider the issues raised in such a motion.

IT IS ORDERED that in the event timely post-trial motions are filed under Rule 59, simultaneously with or subsequent to the filing of a Notice of Appeal, the appellant shall notify the Clerk of this Court in writing. Upon receipt of such notice, the appeal shall be dismissed without prejudice.

*Hudson v. Hudson*, 290 S.C. 215, 216, 349 S.E.2d 341, 341–42 (1986). The purpose of the rule is so that “all ancillary matters can be timely heard, and appealed, if necessary, in an efficient and wholesale manner.” *Holmes v. East Cooper Community Hosp., Inc.*, 408 S.C. 138, 162, 758 S.E.2d 483, 496 (2014).

The Greens' Rule 59(e) motion was filed within ten days of the Master's Amended Damages Order and effectively stayed the time to appeal until "receipt of written notice of entry of the order granting or denying such motion." SCRCF, Rule 59(f). Thus, their Notice of Appeal served on September 14, 2020, was premature and incapable of bringing this matter within the jurisdiction of the Court of Appeals.

Furthermore, as they argued in their Rule 59(e) motion, the Greens were required to raise their objections to the Amended Damages Order to the Master. (R. pp. 162-167). "A party must file such a motion when an issue or argument has been raised, but not ruled on, in order to preserve it for appellate review." *Elam v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 24, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 (2004). In their motion to alter or amend, the Greens argue that numerous issues were raised in the hearing, but not ruled on, in the Master's Order. (R. pp. 162-167).

Despite the Greens' argument to the contrary, their Rule 59(e) motion was not a duplicative or successive procedure. In *Coward Hund Const. Co., Inc. v. Ball Corp.*, the court considered "whether [the defendant's] second Rule 59 motion stayed the time for filing its notice of appeal." 336 S.C. 1, 3, 518 S.E.2d 56, 58 (Ct. App. 1999). Under the facts of that case, the court concluded that the appeal deadline expired 30 days after the denial of the *first* Rule 59 motion. The *Coward* opinion shows that the appropriateness of a Rule 59 motion is determined by the substance of the moving party's challenge. As is true in the instant action, the parties may be required to submit multiple Rule 59 motions to ensure their issues are preserved for appeal.

[A] second motion for reconsideration is appropriate only if it challenges something that was altered from the original judgment as a result of the initial motion for reconsideration. In such a case, a new judgment has replaced the previous judgment and the party aggrieved by the alteration may move for reconsideration.

*Coward*, 336 S.C. at 3, 518 S.E.2d at 58. The Master's Amended Damages Order significantly reduced the amount of the Greens' damages award and eliminated their property damages claim.

Therefore, according to *Coward*, their Rule 59(e) motion was timely and appropriate. Because they were the losing party in the trial court's ruling on Johnson's Rule 59(e) motion, the Greens' subsequent motion was mandatory, and not merely successive.

After the Greens served their Notice of Appeal, Johnson sought the trial court's guidance on the status of the outstanding Rule 59(e) motion. (R. pp. 168-170). The Master erroneously informed Johnson that the trial court no longer had jurisdiction to consider the motion. *Id.* Having relied on the stay imposed by the Rule 59(e) motion, Johnson found himself "between the proverbial rock and a hard place" predicted in *Elam v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp.* 361 S.C. at 25, 602 S.E.2d at 781. Therefore, Johnson on September 25, 2020, served his Notice of Cross-Appeal based on the date of the Master's correspondence. See *Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. v. Fallon Properties South Carolina, LLC*, 422 S.C. 211, 219, 810 S.E.2d 856, 860 (2018) (holding that "an email sent from the court, an attorney of record, or a party that provides written notice of entry of an order or judgment triggers the time for serving a notice of appeal for purposes of Rule 203(b)(1), SCACR").

This jurisdictional defect was properly raised to the Clerk of the Court of Appeals in Johnson's Notice of Cross Appeal filed on October 5, 2020. In that filing, Johnson informed the Court that the Greens filed a timely Rule 59(e) motion, that the Master did not rule on that motion, and that they nevertheless served and filed a notice of appeal. According to *Hudson*, 290 S.C. at 216, 349 S.E.2d at 341-42, it was then incumbent on the Clerk to dismiss the Greens' notice of appeal without prejudice. This did not happen.

After the Clerk failed to dismiss the Greens' notice of appeal, Johnson filed a Motion to Hold Appeals in Abeyance, which the Court of Appeals granted<sup>1</sup> on February 4, 2021, and returned this action back to the Master for resolution of the Greens' Rule 59(e) motion. The Master then denied the Greens' motion. (Form 4 Order, R. p. 31). Any notice of appeal served prior to the Master's March 8, 2021, order was untimely and outside the Court of Appeals' jurisdiction.

On April 7, 2021, within 30 days of the Master's order denying the Greens' Rule 59(e) motion, Johnson served a new Notice of Appeal. The Greens, however, did not timely appeal from that Order. Instead, they filed on April 20, 2021, an "Amended Notice of Appeal" and simultaneously filed a motion for an extension of time to file the amended notice of appeal. The Greens never served this amended notice of appeal prior to the date of filing.

Rule 203(b), SCACR, requires a party to serve his notice of appeal within thirty days after receiving written notice of the entry of a final order or judgment, and failure to do so divests this court of subject matter jurisdiction and results in dismissal of the appeal.

*Canal Ins. Co. v. Caldwell*, 338 S.C. 1, 4, 524 S.E.2d 416, 418 (Ct. App. 1999). The Greens cannot demonstrate that either of their notices of appeal complied with this blackletter standard. Nor can the Greens seek a remedy for their untimely notice of appeal.

The requirement of service of the notice of appeal is jurisdictional, i.e., if a party misses the deadline, the appellate court lacks jurisdiction to consider the appeal and has no authority or discretion to 'rescue' the delinquent party by extending or ignoring the deadline for service of the notice.

*Elam*, 361 S.C. at 14–15, 602 S.E.2d at 775 (quoting *Mears v. Mears*, 287 S.C. 168, 337 S.E.2d 206 (1985)).

---

<sup>1</sup> The court amended this order on March 4, 2021, to clarify that the Greens' appeal and Johnson's cross-appeal would both be held in abeyance pending the Master-in-Equity's consideration of the pending motion.

This issue was also raised in Johnson's Motion to Dismiss, filed on May 7, 2021. Also on May 7<sup>th</sup>, Johnson wrote the Clerk of the Court of Appeals to explain that the notice of appeal filed on April 16, 2021, was a new appeal from the Master's March 8, 2021, order. Johnson requested a new appeal number and submitted a check for the filing fee.

Instead, by order dated June 28, 2021, the Court of Appeals dismissed Johnson's motion to dismiss without explanation. On that same date, the Clerk issued a letter informing the parties that:

The Court has received multiple notices of appeal from appellant/respondents and respondent/appellant in this matter. These appeals will be consolidated for consideration by the Court under the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules (SCACR), and we anticipate receiving one record on appeal. **The times for perfecting an appeal will run from the service of the last notice of appeal.**

Nondispositive Order, dated June 28, 2021 (emphasis supplied). Not only was this instruction contrary to the Rules of Appellate Procedure, but the Greens never served a notice of appeal from the Master's order denying the Greens' Rule 59(e) motion. Nor did the Court of Appeals grant the Greens' request for an extension, nor did it address their failure to timely notice their appeal. For these reasons, this Court should review the Court of Appeals' failure to hold that the Greens failed to perfect their appeal.

## **II. THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION REDUCING THE DEFAULT JUDGMENT AWARD WAS BASED ON EVIDENCE TIMELY PRESENTED.**

The Court of Appeals further erred in determining that the Master improperly relied on evidence submitted at the hearing on Johnson's Rule 59(e) motion. Even if the Master should not have considered specific evidence presented at that hearing, that does not impair the Master's decision to reduce the damages award for two reasons. First, the grossly disproportionate damages award was apparent from evidence previously presented at the default damages hearing, in

Johnson's Rule 60 motion to set aside default judgment, in the Affidavits of Nikole Shields and Breeann Richardson, and in the hearing on Johnson's Rule 60 motion. Secondly, the evidence presented at the Rule 59(e) hearing was relevant only to Johnson's effort to set aside default to allow Johnson to appear and defend the action on its merits. In other words, the trial court's discretion to reduce the patently disproportionate damages award was independent of the decision to deny Johnson's effort to set aside default judgment.

The evidence Johnson presented to support his Rule 59(e) motion included correspondence between the Greens' counsel and Johnson's insurer, a picture from the accident scene, and documentation of the Greens' property subrogation claim for repairs to their vehicle. (R. pp. 133-151). However, the Master's decision to reduce the damages award did not depend upon this evidence. The only evidence cited by the Master as justification for reducing the damages award was the "uncontested medical bills of \$12,826.00; and the additional evidence presented at the hearing,<sup>2</sup> ...." (R. P. 30).

Instead, the trial transcript from the July 13, 2020, hearing makes clear that the Master simply regretted the excessive damages award. At the hearing, the Master concluded that "I think the damages that I previously awarded are too high. And so I'm going to reduce those damages, okay. I don't know how much." (R. pp. 93-94). Referencing the default damages hearing, the Master offered that "when there's nobody here defending it, you know, and the Court only hears one set of argument on the damages ... it's just kind of hard." *Id.*

What is not hard is concluding that the evidence presented to the Master prior to the Rule 59(e) hearing was sufficient to support his decision that the original award was excessive. The

---

<sup>2</sup> It is not clear from the order which of the three hearings the Master is referring to regarding the "additional evidence" he relied upon.

Greens testified and presented record evidence at the May 22, 2019, default damages hearing. Counsel for the Greens entered medical bills totaling \$12,826.00 and suggested that “anywhere from 100 to 150 times medical expenses” was appropriate for an actual damages award. (R. pp. 53-54). Mr. Green testified that repairs to the Greens’ car was “\$3,000.00 or something.” (R. p. 49). When Mr. Green attempted to sell the vehicle, he showed prospective buyers photos of damage caused by the collision and told them “See, look, it -- it didn't look bad.” (R. p. 51). The Greens offered a video of the relatively minor accident, which the Master viewed during the hearing. (R. pp. 24 & 44-45). Accordingly, the Master’s decision to reduce the damages award was based on evidence presented well before the July 2020, hearing and not on newly admitted evidence.

A close review of the Amended Damages Order shows that the evidence offered with Johnson’s Rule 59(e) motion was considered by the Master in setting aside the \$10,000.00 property damage award and in finding that the case of *McClurg v. Deaton*, 380 S.C. 563, 671 S.E.2d 87 (Ct. App. 2008), *aff’d*, 395 S.C. 85, 716 S.E.2d 887 (2011), supported finding that Johnson had a meritorious defense under Rule 60(b). As to the single photograph of the accident scene, this evidence was merely duplicative of the video of the accident that the Master viewed at the default damages hearing. (R. pp. 24 & 44-45). Therefore, admitting this evidence was, at worst, harmless error. The impact of this evidence, whatever it may be, was not necessarily tied to the Master’s decision, which was well within the trial court’s discretion, to reduce an excessive damages award.

### **III. THE MASTER DID NOT ERR IN ACCEPTING EVIDENCE AT THE HEARING ON JOHNSON’S RULE 59(E) MOTION.**

#### **A. The Court of Appeals Erred Because the Record Does Not Definitively Establish What Evidence was Presented Prior to the Hearing on Johnson’s Rule 59(e) Motion.**

As a preliminary matter, the record does not conclusively establish that the evidence offered by Johnson at the July 13, 2020, hearing was not previously brought to the Master’s attention. This is because there was no court reporter present at, and no recording was made of, the October 21, 2019, hearing on Johnson’s Rule 60(b) motion. At the Rule 59(e) hearing, counsel for the Greens informed the Master that the arguments presented that day were “basically all the same arguments [the Master] heard after this motion to dismiss.” (R. p. 79). Accordingly, the record casts doubt on the grounds relied on by the Court of Appeals to vacate the Amended Damages Order.

#### **B. Evidence Presented Johnson’s Rule 59(e) Motion was Properly Before the Master Because Johnson Could Not Have Offered the Evidence Prior to Default Judgment.**

It is well established that “[a] party cannot use Rule 59(e) to present to the court an issue the party **could have raised prior to judgment** but did not.” *Hickman v. Hickman*, 301 S.C. 455, 456, 392 S.E.2d 481, 482 (Ct. App. 1990). The court overlooked the issue of whether Johnson, in the context of a Rule 59(e) motion challenging the court’s refusal to set aside default judgment, could have raised **any** issue “prior to judgment.” The fact is that Johnson made no appearance in this action, and was not represented by counsel, prior to the Master entering judgment by default.

Because this is an action to set aside default judgment, the evidentiary standards are governed first by Rule 60. The court agreed with the Greens that the evidence presented with Johnson’s Rule 59(e) motion was not “newly discovered evidence” citing the standard of Rule 60(b)(2). Johnson, however, relied on Rule 60(b)(3), to which courts apply a more lenient standard

than to Rule 60(b)(2). *Schultz v. Butcher*, 24 F.3d 626, 631 (4th Cir. 1994). Moreover, Rule 60(b)(2), which was never relied on by Johnson, has limited application when the movant proffers evidence to meet the evidentiary burden to justify setting aside default judgment. Instead, relief from default under Rule 60 depends on factors including “the reasons for the failure to act promptly ... the existence of a meritorious defense, and the prejudice to the other parties.” *Micronics, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 345 S.C. 506, 510–11, 548 S.E.2d 223, 226 (Ct. App. 2001). It goes without saying that meeting this burden requires evidence and that such evidence was **not** presented prior to default judgment. Our courts do not hold that a party seeking relief from default judgment is constrained to offer only evidence that was offered prior to the entry of judgment. Ergo, our rules permit such a party to offer evidence even though it theoretically could have been raised prior to judgment but was not.

The issue remains whether this permissive approach to the admissibility of evidence includes evidence offered in a party’s Rule 59(e) motion. If our courts had previously held that a party in default cannot present evidence with a Rule 59(e) motion that the party did not offer with its Rule 60(b) motion, then the Master clearly erred in admitting the evidence offered by Johnson here. But that is not the rule set forth by our courts. Because Johnson could not have offered this evidence prior to judgment, the Court of Appeals erred by vacating the Master’s Amended Damages Order based on evidence offered at the Rule 59(e) hearing.

**C. The Court of Appeals Erroneously Concluded that the Greens Preserved Objections to the Admission of Evidence at the Hearing on Johnson’s Rule 59(e) Motion.**

The Court of Appeals failed to account for<sup>3</sup> the Greens’ Rule 59(e) motion when it held that the Greens preserved, via their unsolicited proposed order, their objections to the admission

---

<sup>3</sup> This is also significant because it demonstrates that the Court of Appeals failed to appreciate the effect of the Greens’ Rule 59(e) motion on their untimely notice of appeal.

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