THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court
APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED
May 23 2024
S.C. SUPREME COURT

James B. Jackson, Master-in-Equity

Case No. 2020-001254

Kacey Green and Charinrath Green, Respondents,

v.

Mervin Lee Johnson, Petitioner.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Respondent (Green) submits this Return to Petitioner's (Johnson) Petition for Writ of Certiorari per request of this Court on or about February 6, 2024, for a return by February 16, 2024.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A court reviewing a case on a writ of certiorari must “confine its review to the correction of errors of law only and will not review the findings of fact of an inferior Court or body except when such findings are wholly unsupported by the evidence.” Pettiford v. South Carolina State Bd. of Educ., 218 S.C. 322, 62 S.E.2d 780 (1950); See also Berry v. Spigner, 226 S.C. 183, 84 S.E. 2d 381 (1954).

I. The Court of Appeals properly held the appeal in abeyance in lieu of dismissal

Johnson argues the Greens did not timely appeal after the final Rule 59(e) order in the underlying case, entered on or about March 8, 2021, and thus, this Court did not have jurisdiction

to decide the matters before it on appeal. This argument was considered by the Court of Appeals and decided on or about June 28, 2021, denying Johnson's Motion to Dismiss the Greens' Notice of Appeal. Johnson raised it on his petition for rehearing to the Court of Appeals, which was denied, and now raises it a third time on this writ.

Citing *Hudson v. Hudson* in his writ, Johnson argues, in short, that the Greens' initial notice of appeal should be dismissed because the Clerk of Court of Appeals did not dismiss their initial notice of appeal when Johnson told the court (in his Cross Notice of Appeal, filed in September/October of 2020) that the Greens filed a Rule 59(e) motion and simultaneously filed a Notice of Appeal. Johnson asserts *Hudson* puts the burden on the Clerk of the Court of Appeals to dismiss it and because it didn't, the Greens now must have their arguments completely disregarded by this court. Given all that has transpired in this case, this is not a reasonable outcome nor is it the intent of *Hudson*.

In fact, under *Hudson* the court specifically considered if a notice of appeal needed to be dismissed because the appellant had filed a Rule 59(e) motion. Hudson v. Hudson, 290 S.C. 215, 349 S.E.2d 341 (1986). The court specifically denied the Respondent's motion to dismiss because the lower court retained jurisdiction to decide the Rule 59(e) motion and did in fact do so. Id. There was then no need for the appeal to be dismissed at that point. Yet Johnson is now requesting a dismissal of the Greens' appeal because *Hudson* says "the appeal shall be dismissed without prejudice" when timely 59(e) motions are presented "simultaneously with or subsequent to the Notice of Appeal." Id. at 216, 349 S.E.2d at 341-342. Reading *Hudson* closely, it does not call for such a drastic consequence. Because the lower court had the opportunity to consider the post-trial motions in full, the *Hudson* court allowed the appeal to continue and declined to dismiss it. In the

case at hand, the Court of Appeals effected the same outcome by granting Johnson's Motion to Hold the Appeal in Abeyance.

On December 9, 2020, Johnson moved to hold the appeal "in abeyance...pending resolution of the unresolved Rule 59 motion." See Ex. A (Johnson Motion, Dec. 9, 2020, at pg. 1). The very nature of this motion concedes the Greens' initial notice of appeal was valid and timely. Johnson doesn't even use the word dismissal much less ask the Court of Appeals to then kick the Greens' Notice of Appeal. In response, the Court of Appeals' order confirmed the validity of the Greens' Notice of Appeal by just holding it "in abeyance" during the pendency of the lower court's ruling on Greens' Rule 59(e) motion. See Ex. B (Order, Feb. 4, 2021, and Order, March 4, 2021). In fact, in reading the two orders, the second was entered by this Court to clarify that the appeal is only in abeyance, pending the 59(e) ruling. Id.

After the order of abeyance, the master denied the Greens' Rule 59(e) motion on March 8, 2021. At that point, the procedural postures of the appeals were exactly the same as when the Greens' initially appealed and Johnson Cross Appealed. Neither party was prejudiced by the abeyance nor did any inconsistencies result. To now dismiss the Greens' initial notice would punish the Greens for relying on a court order. It's also important to note that at the time Johnson finally moved to dismiss the Greens' initial appeal (May 7, 2021), a significant amount of briefing had been completed and the master's order under appeal affirmed. There would be no reason to restart an appeal at that point, retriggering briefing deadlines and essentially redoing what had already been done. Even if technically the Clerk of the Court of Appeals should have dismissed the Greens' initial notice of appeal back in October 2020, there is no consequence to that error. By going through the abeyance and getting the master's order finalized, the parties remained in essentially the same position they were in when the appeal first began in 2020.

II. The master improperly considered new evidence which affected his amended order

Johnson's writ rephrases his previous arguments regarding evidence considered at his 59(e) motion but argues his consistent proposition that even if the lower court should not have considered the new evidence Johnson presented at the 59(e) motion to reconsider, it doesn't matter because the lower court could have reversed his decision based off the evidence in the motion to set aside hearing. This argument is flawed.

First, the evidence was new and thus not appropriate at Johnson's 59(e) motion. The Court of Appeal's order squarely answers this question by citing *Spreeuw v. Barker* and *Hickman v. Hickman*. Johnson has offered nothing to counter this precedent: "finding this court could not consider a document that was submitted to the family court 'only as an attachment to [the father's] Rule 59(e) motion'" *Spreeuw v. Barker*, 385 S.C. 45, 68-69, 682 S.E.2d 843, 855; and " 'A party cannot use Rule 59(e) to present to the court an issue the party could have raised prior to judgment but did not'" (*Hickman v. Hickman*, 301 S.C. 455, 456, 392 S.E. 2d 481, 482 (Ct. App. 1990). Johnson undeniably attached new evidence to his Rule 59(e) and, undeniably that evidence was available to him at his first motion in this case, his motion to set aside the default. The Court of Appeals was absolutely correct in finding that Johnson's evidence in his 59(e) motion was new and thus could not be considered by the master.

Johnson cannot deny his evidence was new but tries to diminish the evidence's effect on the master's decision to reduce the award. This argument ignores the plain language of the master's amended order: "Given Plaintiffs' uncontested medical bills of \$12,826.00; **and the additional evidence presented at the hearing**, IT IS SO ORDERED the Plaintiffs are awarded \$250,000..." (emphasis added). There is no other way to read this statement.

Furthermore, there was no evidence of meritorious defense at the damages hearing nor in the motion to set aside default, only two affidavits from adjusters. These nearly identical affidavits

provide no reliable insight into a meritorious defense. Both reference a video recording of the accident and recite that the video “seems to indicate that the February 28, 2018, MVA was relatively minor in nature, in terms of impact speed.” R. pp. 107-112. Both then offer the conclusory statement that “[f]ortunately for all involved, the property damage to Plaintiffs’ vehicle was relatively minor.” R. p. 108, paragraph 11 and R. p. 111, paragraph 10. These affidavits are inadmissible hearsay on both liability and damages.

In its November 4, 2019, Order the master had already concluded the affidavits submitted by Johnson were insufficient to establish a meritorious defense. It is unsurprising, therefore, that the master only reconsidered its prior rulings based upon “the additional evidence presented at the [reconsideration] hearing.” R. p. 30. Throughout the motion to reconsider hearing Johnson’s counsel drew the court’s attention to a variety of documents contained within “Exhibit A.” *See, e.g.*, R. p. 63, lines 20-23; p. 71, lines 11-15; and p. 74, lines 20-24. These documents were submitted to the court as an exhibit to the memorandum of law submitted to the court on the morning of the hearing. R. pp. 121-122. The master’s reliance on this exhibit can be seen from the numerous references to the documents throughout the Amended Order. *See, e.g.*, R. p. 21, paragraphs 5-6 (referencing correspondence and emails between Plaintiffs’ counsel and Defendant’s insurer as well as a copy of a check issued by Plaintiffs’ insurer); R. p. 24, paragraph 14 (“Defendant’s supplemental filing also included a photograph purporting to show the rear of Plaintiff’s vehicle after the collision”); R. p. 27, paragraphs 10-11 (implicitly referencing the check copy as evidence of “previously settled property damages”).

Johnson next argues the record does not conclusively establish that the evidence offered by Johnson at the motion to reconsider hearing was not previously brought to the Master’s attention mainly because the motion to reconsider hearing was not recorded or transcribed. This argument

is flawed too. If it had been presented at the motion to reconsider, then why wasn't it filed with the affidavits that were presented with the motion to reconsider. And, if it had been presented, why did Johnson present it again? Finally, the motion to reconsider was Johnson's motion. To be able to rely on the absence or presence of evidence at that motion, he should have taken steps to preserve the record at that point.

Johnson's writ also again argues he could not offer the evidence prior to the default judgment because he was not represented at that time. But, there was nothing to prevent Johnson from presenting that evidence at the motion to set aside default hearing. If he had, we would likely not still be arguing these issues today. Hence, the judicial economy purpose of Rule 59(e) standard to only consider "newly discovered evidence." And the "judgment" that evidence should have been presented prior to, was the judgment to deny the set aside, which Johnson absolutely had a chance to present evidence and which he did – the two adjuster affidavits. "A party cannot use a motion to reconsider, alter or amend a judgment to present an issue that could have been raised prior to the judgment but was not." *Poch v. Bayshore Concrete Prod./S.C., Inc.*, 386 S.C. 13, 31, 686 S.E.2d 689, 699 (Ct. App. 2009), *aff'd as modified*, 405 S.C. 359, 747 S.E.2d 757 (2013); *see also Gartside v. Gartside*, 383 S.C. 35, 43, 677 S.E.2d 621, 625 (Ct. App. 2009); *Spreeuw v. Barker*, 385 S.C. 45, 68–69, 682 S.E.2d 843, 855 (Ct. App. 2009) (refusing to consider a form that "appears only as an attachment to his Rule 59(e) motion"); *Jones v. Builders Inv. Grp., LLC*, 415 S.C. 321, 330 n. 7, 781 S.E.2d 737, 742 (Ct. App. 2015) (noting attempt to introduce new evidence at a 59(e) hearing was denied by the trial court with a subsequent attempt to supplement the record denied by the Court of Appeals).

III. The Greens Preserved their Objections to the Admission of Evidence

Johnson admits the Greens raised their objections to the admission of new evidence at the motion to reconsider hearing. Johnson also admits the Greens raised their objections to the admission of new evidence with their proposed order denying Johnson’s Rule 59(e) motion. Yet, Johnson argues this Court can’t consider this as preservation of an issue because “[a] trial court is under no obligation to read, much less rule upon, a proposed order.” Here, the lower court’s amended order says it considered Plaintiffs’ proposed order: “Plaintiffs requested leave of Court to brief the issue of the timeliness of Defendant’s motion to Alter or Amend. Plaintiffs thereafter submitted a proposed order denying Defendant’s motion to both liability and damages. Because the Court finds Plaintiffs’ arguments on the timing of Defendant’s motion unavailing, its rulings from the bench stand.” R. p. 19. The lower court clearly considered the Greens’ proposed order in coming to its conclusions in the amended damages order. Thus, Johnson’s arguments are also flawed on this premise.

IV. Johnson Untimely Asks this Court to Decide if the Master Failed to Provide Factual Support for Punitive Damages

Johnson raises the issue of factual support for punitive damages in his petition for rehearing for the first time in this appeal and now raises it again. It was not a question before the Court of Appeals, and thus, not considered nor ruled upon. Johnson’s request was untimely then, is untimely now, and thus, needs no determination from this Court.

V. The Court of Appeals Properly Applied *McClurg*

Johnson argues *McClurg* hinged on the insurer’s “reasonable expectation” of notification of a suit, but the Court of Appeals only relied on the fact that the Greens’ counsel never promised to send a copy of any pleading to Johnson’s insurer. R-A Petition for Rehearing (Feb. 1, 2024, p.

13). *McClurg* went much deeper than that in evaluating the plaintiff attorney’s conduct. In *McClurg*, the defendant’s employer, New Prime, was not originally named a party to the action. *See McClurg*, 380 S.C. at 568, 671 S.E.2d at 90 (“[u]nbeknownst to Zurich and New Prime, counsel filed a summons and complaint on April 27, 2005, naming only Deaton as a defendant”). The decision not to file suit against New Prime represented a marked departure from the plaintiff’s prior contacts with New Prime and its insurer, Zurich. Counsel had previously sent Zurich a letter, “enclosing a copy of a complaint he prepared in the matter and indicating his intent to ‘proceed to litigation’ if the matter was not soon settled.” *See id.* at 567, 671 S.E.2d at 90. The draft complaint “named only Ann McClurg as a plaintiff and New Prime as a defendant, and alleged New Prime was vicariously liable for Deaton’s actions and was also liable for its negligent hiring, retention, and training of Deaton.” *Id.* This draft was consistent with a previous promise made to Zurich by counsel that “I will file suit and serve the [New Prime] and send you a courtesy copy of the pleadings.” *Id.*

On appeal, the *McClurg* court highlighted a letter sent by plaintiff’s counsel to Zurich “indicating an intention to file suit against both Deaton and New Prime . . . and stat[ing] counsel would file suit and serve the Defendant and send Zurich a courtesy copy of the pleadings.” *Id.* at 572–73, 671 S.E.2d at 92. These representations were reinforced by the follow-up letter enclosing a draft complaint naming only New Prime as a defendant. *Id.* at 573, 671 S.E.2d at 92. Based upon this conduct, the court found it reasonable for Zurich and New Prime to believe that “any suit filed would include New Prime as a defendant or, at the very least, that counsel would provide Zurich a copy of any pleadings in the matter when filed.” *Id.* at 573, 671 S.E.2d at 92. Accordingly, “New Prime was taken by surprise when counsel filed the action solely against Deaton and failed to inform Zurich or New Prime of this action.” *Id.* This failure to notify both

the insured and insurer “[met] the surprise or excusable neglect requirement under Rule 60(b)(1).” *Id.*

This conclusion, the *McClurg* court explained, was consistent with prior case law holding that “a Rule 60(b) motion is properly made by an insurer under such circumstances.” *Id.* at 573, 671 S.E.2d at 93 (referencing *Edwards v. Ferguson*, 254 S.C. 278, 175 S.E.2d 224 (1970)). In *Edwards*, the “circumstances” were equally egregious as those outlined in *McClurg*. The insured defendant, Ferguson, “never reported the accident to State Farm, and it was not until fourteen months after the wreck . . . that the company received a letter from plaintiff’s attorney advising that plaintiff asserted a claim and asking that the company’s representative make contact regarding a possible settlement.” *Edwards*, 254 S.C. at 280, 175 S.E.2d at 225. Compounding matters, State Farm had trouble locating Ferguson as he “apparently stayed at the home of his parents most of the time; he was an alcoholic, and hard to catch.” *Id.* at 280–81, 175 S.E.2d at 225.

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